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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
HAMMOND DIVISION

STILLWATER OF CROWN POINT )
HOMEOWNER’S ASSOCIATION, INC., )
individually and on behalf of its members; )
ROGER P. MAHONEY; KENT KOLODZIEJ; and )
KEVIN J. and MARGARET MCKENNA, )
Plaintiffs, )
)
V. ) CAUSE NO.: 2:09-CV-157-PRC
)
JACK KOVICH, INNOVATIVE ENTERPRISES, )
LTD., ROBERT STIGLICH, HAWK )
DEVELOPMENT CORP., and CITY OF )
CROWN POINT, INDIANA, )
Defendants. )

OPINION AND ORDER

This matter is before the Court on Plaintifi®otion for Partial Summary Judgment Against
Defendant City of Crown Pointndiana [DE 97], filed by Plaintiffs Stillwater of Crown Point
Homeowner’s Association, Incndividually and on behalf of its members; Roger P. Mahoney; Kent
Kolodziej; Kevin J. McKenna; and Margaret McKenna (collectively “Plaintiffs”) on March 4, 2011.
A response was filed by the City of Crown Polndiana (the “City”)on April 19, 2011. Plaintiffs
filed a reply on May 17, 2011, and, withave of Court, Plaintiffiled an amended reply on May
18, 2011.

This is the story of two subdivisions and thread crossings in Crown Point, Indiana. The
Stillwater of Crown Point Subdivision (“Stillwet Subdivision”) was developed by Stillwater
Properties, LLC, Innovative Enterprises, Ltd., Robert Stiglich, and Jagickk The Pine Hill
Subdivision (“Pine Hill") was developed by Hawk Development Corp. Located near the border
of the Stillwater Subdivision and Pine Hill is Smiditch. Three road crossings—Greenview Place,

Stillwater Parkway, and Crooked Creek Trail-sparitlsBitch. The crossings at Greenview Place
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and Stillwater Parkway are contained withie @tillwater Subdivision. The crossing at Crooked
Creek Trail connects the Stillwater Subdivisiadaine Hill, with Hawkconstructing a “stub
section” of the crossing up to the property linad Stillwater Properties, LLC constructing the
remainder of the crossing, including that porttbat spans the channel Smith Ditch. Each
crossing was constructed by placing fill matemaSmith Ditch and the adjacent wetlands along
with two thirty-six inch culverts to convey thiew of water in Smith Ditch under the crossings.
In September 2008, flooding occurred in the subdinisias water backed up behind the crossings,
adversely affecting homes in the subdivisions,uditlg those of Kent Kolodziej in Pine Hill and
Roger P. Mahoney and Kevin J. and Margaret McKenna in Stillwater Subdivision.

In the instant motion, Plaintiffs seek summarygment against the City only on their claim
of negligence per se for alleged violationshaf Indiana Flood Control Act and Crown Point Flood
Control Ordinance, arguing that the City \atdd its duties under both laws by allowing the
unpermitted construction of the three crossings, which led to flooding damages to homeowners’
property.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On June 4, 2009, Plaintiffs filed a Complaagfainst Jack Kovich, Innovative Enterprises,
Ltd., Robert Stiglich, Stillwater Properties, LLC,aDevelopment Corp., and the City of Crown
Point, Indiana, seeking injunctive relief and damages.

Count IV of the Complaint allegehat the City was negligepér se because it violated the
Indiana Flood Control Act and Crown Point Ordinance by permitting the construction of three
crossings of Smith Ditch in tf&illwater of Crown Point and Pine Hill subdivisions, despite the fact
that the developers had not obtained floodwaytrtoaton permit for the crossings from the Indiana

Department of Natural Resources. Count V ofCbenplaint alleges that the City breached its duty



owed to Plaintiffs to exercise reasoraldare in undertaking, approving, and upgrading the
development of streets and drainage infrastrudtuttee two developments. Count VI alleges that
the three crossings constitute public and private naesaand that Plaintiffs have been harmed by
the nuisance conditions created by the City.

Hawk Development Corporation filed angwer on August 6, 2009. Innovative Enterprises,
Ltd. and Jack Kovich filed an Answer on Augudsl, 2009. The City o€rown Point filed an
Answer on September 1, 2009. Robert Stiglich filed an Answer on November 30, 2009.

On October 9, 2009, a Clerk’s Entry of Ddfamas entered against Stillwater Properties,
LLC. On November 16, 2009, Defendant StillwaRyoperties, LLC was severed as a party
defendant for purposes of 28 UCS§ 636(c), and the case aga@sliwater Properties, LLC only
remains pending before Chief Judge Philip P. Simon.

As the remainder of the patrties filed formsohsent to have this case assigned to a United
States Magistrate Judge to conduct all furthecg@edings and to order the entry of a final judgment
in this case, this case was reassigned to the undersigned Magistrate Judge. Therefore, this Court has
jurisdiction to decide this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 636(c).

SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure mandate that motions for summary judgment be
granted “if the pleadings, the discovery and disalesuaterials on file, and any affidavits show that
there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a
matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). Rule &6further requires the entry of summary judgment,
after adequate time for discovery, against a party “who fails to make a showing sufficient to
establish the existence of an element essentiahtarty’s case, and on which that party will bear

the burden of proof at trial."Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). “[SJummary



judgment is appropriate — in fact, is mandated erehhere are no disputed issues of material fact
and the movant must prevail as a matter of ldmvother words, the record must reveal that no
reasonable jury could find for the non-moving partipémpsey v. Atchison, Topeka, & Santa Fe
Ry. Co, 16 F.3d 832, 836 (7th Cir. 1994) (citations omitted).

A party seeking summary judgment bears titeainmesponsibility of informing the court of
the basis for its motion and identifying those portions of the pleadings, depositions, answers to
interrogatories, and admissions on file, togetiwth the affidavits, if any, that it believes
demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of materiabeCelotexd77 U.S. at 323Fed. R.
Civ. P. 56(c). The moving party may discharganitisal responsibility by simply “showing’ — that
is, pointing out to the district court — that thés an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving
party’s case.Celotex477 U.S. at 325. When the nonmovingypaould have the burden of proof
at trial, the moving party is not required topport its motion with affidavits or other similar
materials negating the opponent’s clai@elotex 477 U.S. at 323, 32%reen v. Whiteco Indus.,
Inc., 17 F.3d 199, 201 n.3 (7th Cir. 199Bitzpatrick v. Catholic Bishop of Chicag®16 F.2d 1254,
1256 (7th Cir. 1990). However, the moving party, if it chooses, may support its motion for summary
judgment with affidavits or other materiaknd, if the moving party has “produced sufficient
evidence to support a conclusion that there are no genuine issues for trial,” then the burden shifts
to the nonmoving party tchew that an issue of material fact exisBecker v. Tenenbaum-Hill
Assoc, 914 F.2d 107,110-111 (7th Cir. 1990) (citations omittszh;also Hong v. Children's Mem’l
Hosp, 993 F.2d 1257, 1261 (7th Cir. 1993).

Once a properly supported motion for summary judgment is made, the non-moving party
cannot resist the motion and withstand summuatgment by merely resting on its pleadin§ee

Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(2]ponovan v. City of Milwauked 7 F.3d 944, 947 (7th Cir. 1994). Rule



56(e) provides that “[i]f a party fails to propedypport an assertion of fact or fails to properly
address another party’s assertion of fact as reduny Rule 56(c), the court may . . . consider the
fact undisputed for purposes of the motiom] [grant summary judgment if the motion and
supporting materials — including the facts considerstisputed — show that the movant is entitled
toit....” Fed. R. Civ. P.56(e)(2), (3ge also Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, |dd@7 U.S. 242, 248-
50 (1986). Thus, to demonstrate a genuine isktect, the nonmoving party must “do more than
simply show that there is some metaphysical doutat e material facts,” but must “come forward
with ‘specific facts showing thatéhe is a genuine issue for trialMatsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v.
Zenith Radio Corp.475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)).

In viewing the facts presented on a motiorsiammary judgment, a court must construe all
facts in a light most favorable to the non-movpagty and draw all legitimate inferences in favor
of that party. See Andersqrt77 U.S. at 255Srail v. Vill. of Lisle 588 F.3d 940, 948 (7th Cir.
2009);NLFC, Inc. v. Devcom Mid-Am., Ind5 F.3d 231, 234 (7th Cir. 1995). A court’s role is not
to evaluate the weight of the evidence, to judgectiedibility of witnesses, or to determine the truth
of the matter, but instead to determine wheethere is a genuinesue of triable factSee Andersgn
477 U.S. at 249-50.

MATERIAL FACTS

Stillwater of Crown Point subdivision hg “Stillwater Subdivision”) and Pine Hill
subdivision (“Pine Hill") are residential subdivisions developed in Crown Point, Indiana. Smith
Ditch is a tributary of the Main Beaver Dadbitch, the drainage basin for which includes the

Stillwater Subdivision and Pine Hill, as well as areas upstream.



A. The Crossings

The development of the Stillwater Subdivision included three street crossings of Smith
Ditch—-at Greenview Place, Stillwater Parkway, and Crooked Creek Trail (collectively the
“Crossings”). The crossings at Greenview Plawe Stillwater Parkway are located in Phase 1 of
the Stillwater Subdivision, which was approvedligy City in 1998. The crossing at Crooked Creek
Trail is located in Phase 5 of the Stillwater Subdivision, which was approved by the City in 2003
with the exception of the Crooked Creek Trail Crossing. With respect to Phase 5, the City
demanded that the Stillwater Subdivision depef provide hydraulic and hydrologic calculations
to prove the crossing at Crook&ckek Trail was properly sized. Kovich and Innovative Enterprises
understood that the City required the construction of the crossing at Crooked Creek Trail to connect
the two subdivisions.

All three of the Crossings were construcitgdplacing two 36-inch culverts to convey the
flow of water in Smith Ditch under each of theestr crossings. Jonathan E. Jones, P.E., D.WRE,
Plaintiffs’ expert, found that thehannel and banks of Smith Ditale a “floodway” as that term is
defined under Indiana law and Indiana DepartroéNatural Resources (“IDNR”) regulations and
that the construction of the Crossings was sullpd@NR'’s jurisdiction. Jones confirmed with the
IDNR that the crossings were within the IDNR’s jurisdiction. The upstream drainage areas at all
three of the Crossings exceed one square mllehree Crossings extend across the entire channel
at each location.

Jones opines that “the crossings, as constagvould cause rises during a 100-year event
in excess of the 0.14-feet allowed by IDNR regulations. The three crossings of Smith Ditch are
drainage structures that adversely affect fifieiency of and unduly restrict the capacity of the

Smith Ditch floodway.” PIl. Br.Exh. 2, p. 4. More specificallyones opines that the Crossings,



as constructed, will result in amcrease of the 100 year frequgtlood elevation just upstream of

the Crossings of 2.58 - 4.10 feet. Although Defen#atk Development’s retained expert, Martin

S. Mann, P.E., did not conduct a “rigorous engimggreview of the modeling data,” PI. Br., Exh.

3, p. 12, Mann “did not find anything objectionabletlive Plaintiffs’ expert report prepared by

Wright Water Engineers, Inc.jd. at p. 13. The City’s expert, Phillip E. Gralik, P.E. of RW

Armstrong, has concluded that additional, bigger culverts are required at each of the Crossings.
B. IDNR Permits

The IDNR did not issue floodway construction pésrfor any of the Crossings prior to their
construction. The City permitted the construcodthe Crossings without floodway construction
permits from IDNR.

In 2007, the City of Crown Point first leaghdrom the IDNR that the Crossings were
constructed without floodway permits. On Feloy®, 2007, Daniel M. Klein, then-Mayor of the
City of Crown Point, issued atter entitled “Dear Resident,” indicating that the City is “committed
to holding accountable those responsible for asy @&od modification” of the Crossings and that
the City “is currently taking the responsibility tehaust every avenue in order to find the quickest
and most effective resolution.” PI. Br., Exh. 5, p. 1. The letter further provides that the City is
“working diligently with the DNRto assess the needs and recommendations for the subdivision.”
Id.

The City contracted with Short Elliot Hendridks Inc. (“SEH”) to assi the City of Crown
Point in modeling the Crossings and obtaining gmessary permits for the Crossings. On June 29,
2007, SEH submitted, on behalf oétRity, a Permit Application for Construction in a floodway

to IDNR, application No. FW-24400, in which tB&y proposed replacing the two 36-inch culverts



at each of the Crossings with larger box euls. Mann commented that the City actively
participated in the design, construction and attempted after-the-fact permitting of the Crossings.
On September 28, 2007, the IDNR denied thdiegamon for an after-the-fact construction
permit for the existing Crooked Creek Trail crossing because “[sJubmitted computer modeling
shows that the ‘after-the-fact’ existing project adedy affects the efficiery of, or unduly restricts

the capacity of, the floodway;” “[sJubmitted cguter modeling shows that the ‘after-the-fact’
existing project creates an increase in the 100-year frequency flood elevation that poses an
unreasonable threat to the safety of life or prgpeand “[flailure to submit a modified project plan

with supporting computer modeling that demonstrates the project will not adversely affect the
efficiency of, or unduly restrict the capiycof, the floodway.” PI. Br., Exh. 9, p. 3.

As of the date of the briefing on summarggment, no after-the-fact floodway construction
permit for the Crossings had been obtained. Tiisgyithe City Engineer, states that Crown Point
requires that developers in Crowoint, Indiana, obtain all necessary permits prior to proceeding
with any construction and théte City relies upon developers to obtain these permits without
assistance from the City of Crown Point.

C. TheResidences

Plaintiff Kent Kolodziej's residence has a walkbasement at the back of the residence with
a basement door elevation @0.32 feet, which corresponds to cross section 4.51 of Table 1 of
Jones’ report entitled “Comparison of Pre-development and Existing Conditions HEC-RAS Water
Surface Elevations along Smith Ditch.” Pl. BixhE2, p. 3. The pre-developed 100 year frequency
flood elevation at this location is 698.86 feet.cémtrast, the 100 year frequency flood elevation

for the existing conditions with the Crossings/2.80 feet, more thawo feet above the door

entrance elevation.



The Plat of Survey for Kolodziej's re@nce, dated December 23, 2003, shows elevations
of “706.65" at the front of the property and “699ad'the back of the property. PIl. Reply, Exh. 16.
The “Grading Notes” provide “1) 706.10 = Refereftbev. (Top of curb @enter of lot); 2) 708.15
= Prop. Finish Grade Ele@ front line of house)”ld. The City’s expert, Gralik, opined that the
“platted finished floor elevation” for the Kolowg residence is 708.15 and that the “actual finished
floor elevation” is 699.80.

Similarly, Gralik, indicated that the “platteahished floor elevation” for the Jenks home is
706.00 and that the “actual finished floor elevati@$97.91. Gralik opines that several properties
along Smith Ditch “were constructed with finishidor elevations below those required on the
subdivision grading plans and plat,” including #a&odziej and Jenks residences. Def. Br., Exh.
2, p. 3. Gralik further opined:

The intent of the original design was likely to allow the overtopping of the road

crossings before the homes flooded, by nenagithe finished floor elevations be

constructed at a high enough elevation to protect them if a flood, larger than the

design event, occurred. Several structwiéisin the subdivision have not followed
this guideline.

To protect the existing structures that were built below the minimum allowable
finished floor elevation, the high wateeehtion must be kept below the finished

floor elevation of the lowest unprotectsttucture with a reasonable amount of
freeboard.

Id. at pp. 2-3. Tris Miles, the Cifgngineer, states in his Affidathat the Kolodziej's home as well
as other homes in the Stillwater Subdivision were built at a lower elevation than the elevation
designed by the site engineer.
D. TheFlooding
In September 2008, a flooding event occurred in the Stillwater Subdivision and Pine Hill,

in which water flooded the homes Plaintiffs Kevin J. and Margaret McKenna and Roger P.



Mahoney in the Stillwater Subdivision andetthome of Kent Kolodziej in Pine Hill. The
McKennas state in response to Hawk Development’s Interrogatory No. 19 that their “Home
experienced severe flooding indgéember 2008 . . . . Water first entered the Home through the sump
pump, then started pouring in through the windowkere was three to four feet of water in our
lower level. In 2009 and 2010, there were multgtents during heavy rains in which floodwater
backed up at the Crossings and resulted in water entering the McKennas[sic] property. The
McKennas paid to have a soil berm constrddiehind their house after the severe flooding in
September 2008. As a result,teradid not enter the Home during the events in 2009 and 2010.”
Pl. Br., Exh. 11, p. 10.

In response to the same interrogatory, Kolodziej answered that his home experienced severe
flooding in September 2008. He also answeredflihad water from the Crossings had entered his
property, but did not infiltrate his home, latast on the following dates: 1/15/2005; 6/5/2005;
4/17/2006; 7/15/2006; 9/13/2006; 12/16/200625/2007; 8/31/2007; 1/8/2008; 3/15/2008;
8/25/2008; 12/27/2008; 2/15/200®27/2009; 3/8/2009; and 10/23/2009. PI. Br., Exh. 12, p. 12.

Also in response to that interrogatory, Mahpaaswered that his home experienced severe
flooding in September 2008 and that “[ijn 2009, theeze multiple events during heavy rains in
which floodwater backed up at the Crossingd eesulted in water entering Mahoney’s property.
Water did not enter Mahoney’s Home during the events in 2009.” PI. Br., Exh. 13, p. 9.

E. Ongoing Proceedingswith IDNR
As part of the ongoing proceedings with IDNat began in 2007, a meeting was held with

IDNR, the City of Crown Point Mgor, and other City officials, including Miles (the City Engineer),

! On page 6 of their Brief, Plaintiffs represent asiagisputed material fact that “[a]s a result of the severely
undersized culverts provided for the Crossings, the Plaintiffs’ properties and homes have been subjected to flooding
numerous times,” citing their response to Jack Koviuth Banovative Enterprises’ Interrogatory No. 2 attached as
Exhibit 10. The answer to Interrogatory No. 2 does not contain this information.

10



in late 2008. However, in September 2008, jugirdo the meeting, th€ity of Crown Point
experienced the storm that led to the above-described flooding. Miles personally believes that the
flood exceeded the IDNR 100 year frequency floaslglestandards. Having just experienced the
flood, the City officials realized that the projeciedter level of the SEH model did not accurately
reflect observed conditions and explained thisNR officials. Miles represents that IDNR
officials agreed with the City that the SErbdel submitted with the Permit Application did not
reflect the observed conditions and inaccurately portrayed the high water levels projected in the
Stillwater Subdivision. The City expressed concerns that the SEH model did not consider the areas
downstream from the Stillwater Subdivision. Aseault, a decision was made to place the City’s
Permit Application in abeyance $mat the City could reevaluate the conditions in the Stillwater
Subdivision and prepare a new application Wwhiould more accurately reflect the conditions
affecting the Crossings.

The City then hired Robinson EngineerimgJune 2009, with a contract amendment in
January 2010, to reevaluate the SEH model inrdodeesubmit the Permit Application to IDNR.
The scope of the services provided by RobirfSogineering included identifying inaccuracies in
the 2007 model, identifying the maximum high water elevation that can be allowed within the
Stillwater Subdivision while still protecting the etigy structures, determining what size culverts
at the Crossings are required to reduce tigh Wwater elevation for the 100 year flood to the
allowable level, identifying the impacts of the modifications on properties downstream of the

Crossings and upstream of US 231, and identiffnegmpact downstream modifications will have

2The Affidavit of Tris Miles submitted in supportibie City’s Response in Opposition to Summary Judgment
ends with Paragraph 5p, on the third page submitte@ {©©dhrt. The pages are unnumbered. Although paragraphs 17-
30 of the City’s Statement of Genuine Disputes in its respbrnisf cite paragraphs 5g-t,and 7 of Miles’ Affidavit,
those pages of the Affidavit are not included in the sabimnm to the Court. Thus, any unsupported statements of fact
are disregarded.

11



on hydraulics within the subdivision and on the reggiculvert sizes. Robinson Engineering found
that the April 2007 and the September 2007 HEC-RW8els prepared by SEH contained an error
in the length of the stream that resulted in$lk#H model yielding larger than necessary culverts.

On January 28, 2011, the IDNR issued a “botof Violation” to the City, issuing an
enforcement action pursuant to Indiana C&lé@4-25.5. The Notice provides that “[tlhree
unpermitted culvert crossings over Smith Ditch have been constructed without the required
Construction in a Floodway permits.” Pl. RgdExh. 15, p. 1. The Notice acknowledges that two
after-the-fact applications have been deniedithat the work on the Crossings was done “without
the prior written approval of the Division of Watend is in violation of Indiana Code 14-28-1."
Id. The IDNR found that the City &s failed to prove that the #® culvert crossings and associated
fill will not adversely affect theféciency of or unduly restrict theapacity of the floodway and will
not constitute an unreasonable hazard to the safety of life or propedy." The IDNR then
identified the action appropriate to mitigate the aimn, including that thei€ remove the fill and
culverts from the Crossings and that the Cagnove all excavated materials from the floodway.
From representations made by the parties in open court, the IDNR proceedings are ongoing.

The City owns property rights in the Crossing$ie City believes it has a duty to maintain
the Crossings but also believes that, to thengéxtee Crossings were originally built with any
inadequacies or defects, it is the responsibilithefperson or entity who originally designed and/or
built the Crossing to repair and/or replace the Crossings.

ANALYSIS

In the instant motion, Plaintiffs ask the Cbtar grant summary judgment in their favor on

their claim for negligence per se against the @itg to issue an injuncin directing the City to

timely modify the Crossings so that they compith the Indiana Flood Corul Act at Indiana Code

12



§ 14-28-1, et seq. and the Crown Point Floodt@l Ordinance 1111(“Flood Control Ordinance”)
and to obtain all necessary approval from IDNRtfigr Crossings. Plaintiffs reason that the City’s
statute and ordinance violations resulted in crossiifpsculverts that daot comply with the Flood
Control Act or the Flood Control Ordinance and &o small to convey the flow in Smith Ditch
during areasonably anticipated storm, resultinge@tflooding that occurred in September 2008 and
other flooding and exposing the Plaintiffs aall the homeowners in the subdivisions to an
unreasonable risk of flooding in the future. Pldistcontend that because the City has exclusive
property rights in the Crossings, only an injuactrequiring the City to remedy the Crossings will
provide a sufficient remedy.

In response, the City argues that it is ioma from liability under the Indiana Tort Claims
Act, Plaintiffs’ claim is barred by the statutelwhitations, the City’s beged negligence was not
the proximate cause of Plaintiffs’ alleged injuresd that Plaintiffs are not entitled to an injunction.
No cross motion for summary judgment has bded by the City. All other claims by Plaintiffs
against the City remain for trial.

A.IndianaTort ClaimsAct

The City asserts that it is immune from lidi under the Indiana Tort Claim Act (“ITCA"),
which grants immunity under specific circumstas to governmental entities for torts committed
by their agencies or employees. The ITCA is tresl narrowly and against the grant of immunity.

Hochstetler v. Elkhart Cnty. Highway Depdi68 N.E.2d 425, 426 (Ind. 2007). The party seeking

% Ordinance 1111 (1980) was amended by Ordinance(16882). The Flood Control Ordinance, as amended
in 1992, was incorporated into § 153 of the Crown Point Gbdeat time. The 1992 version of the Ordinance was in
effect at the time the Greenview Place and Stillwater Parkwessings were constructed. For ease of reference, the
relevant sections of Ordinance 1111, as amended byd@nck 1638, are described as the “Flood Control Ordinance”
but will reference the applicable Crown Point Code section numbers.

In addition, Ordinance 1111 was amended aga2004 by Ordinace 2004-05-09. The 2004 amendments
were likely in effect at the time the Crooked Creek Trail crossing was constructed but they did not change the 1992
version of the Ordinance in any way pertinent to thigidfoor the allegations against the City in this motion.
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immunity bears the burden of establishihgt its conduct comes within the ITCAd. The
determination of governmental immunity under FREA is a question of law for the court$d.
The City argues that, because Plaintiffs seekdiol the City liable forfailure to “enforce” an
Indiana statute and a City ordinance, the Citpnreune from liability under section 3(8) as a matter
of law. Plaintiffs respond that the ITCA does apply to this claim and that, if the ITCA does
apply, the City is not entitled to immunity under section 3(8).

1. Scope of the ITCA

Plaintiffs first respond that the ITCA is inapgble to the instant request for injunctive relief
because the ITCA applies only to claims or swgtekeng damages in tort and not for claims seeking
injunctive relief. PI. Br., p. 3 (citinBd. of Trs. of Indianapolis Fire Dep’'t Pension Fund v. City of
Indianapolis 498 N.E.2d 10021003 (Ind. Ct. App. 1986)Jnderwood v. City of Jasper Mun.
Utility Servs. Bd.678 N.E.2d 1280, 1283 (Ind. Ct. App. 1997)).

However, inHoltz v. Board of Commissioners60 N.E.2d 645, 647-48 (Ind. 1990), the
Indiana Supreme Court clarified ththe ITCA applies to all tortsRejecting the appellate court’s
narrow construction of the statutory definition of “loss,” the court held:

We cannot interpret the Tort Claims Act as applying only to some torts.

Even applying the strictest construction, fivel that the only logical interpretation

to place upon the term “loss” in the statutdefinition is to find that the legislature

clearly intended to include all torts committed against either persons or property.

Id. (considering a case concerning a retaliatory discharge claim brought by a former at-will
employee against the county board of commission@wsiurts have continued to follow this ruling.
See, e.g.Cox v. City of IndianapoljdNo. 1:09-cv-435, 2011 WL 3667693, at 4 (S.D. Ind. Aug. 22,
2011) (finding that plaintiff's claim that the cityolated its statutory obligation to apportion the

costs of a sewer project equally among affected property owners by forgiving the debts of some
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owners and refusing to issue refunds for gls®unded in tort subject to the ITCA unHeitz and
its progeny)Cantrell v. Morris 849 N.E.2d 488, 495 (Ind. 2006) (recognizing its prior holding in
Holtzthat the ITCA is “applicable to all torts committed against persons or propéntyit);Mort.
Corp. v. Marion Cnty. TreasureB16 N.E.2d 439, 446 (Ind. Ct. App. 200f)diana Dept. of
Transp. v. Shelly & Sands, In@56 N.E.2d 1063, 1077 (Ind. Ct. App. 20Gigns. deniedciting
Bienz v. Bloom674 N.E.2d 998, 1003 (Ind. Ct. App. 1998ans. denie§l Burke v. Bd. of Dir. of
the Monroe Cnty. Pub. Library09 N.E.2d 1036, 1041-42 (Ind. Ct. App. 199@)ated in part on
reh’g, 711 N.E.2d 1288rans. denied726 N.E.2d 314 (Ind. 1999).
In Holtz, the Indiana Supreme Court defined the term “tort” as
A legal wrong committed upon the person or property independent of contract. It
may be either (1) a direct invasion of some legal right of the individual; (2) the
infraction of some public duty by whichegial damage accrues to the individual;
(3) the violation of some private obligation by which like damage accrues to the
individual.
Holtz, 560 N.E.2d at 647 (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary (5th ed. 1979)). One of the only two
cases cited by Plaintiffflnderwood v. City of Jasper Municipal Utility Services Boasdued in
1997, was rejected by the Indiana Court of Appea&hielly & Sands 2001. The court iShelly
& Sandgecognized thdnderwoods finding that not all torts are covered under the ITCA because
of the limited statutory definition of “loss” as dmjury to or death of a person or damage to
property” was based on the appellate decisioHotz, which had been vacated by the Indiana
Supreme Court in 1990 on that very issue, as noted aB@eeShelly & Sandg56 N.E.2d at 1077
(citingUnderwood 678 N.E.2d 1283-84olz v. Bd. of Comm’rs of Elkhart Cnt$48 N.E.2d 1220

(Ind. Ct. App. 1990)frans. granted and opinion vacated B0 N.E.2d 645 (Ind. 1990j).

*In Cantrell v. Morris the Indiana Supreme Court recognizeat the Indiana Court of Appealslimderwood
in 1997 had relied on thappellatedecision in theHoltz case from 1990 without acknowledging that the Indiana
Supreme Court had overruled the holdingHimltz later in 1990. The court then noted that, “[flor reasons we cannot
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Moreover, nothing iidnderwoodndicates that the holding that the plaintiff’s tort claims did not
fall within the purview of the ICA was because the plaintiff soughjunctive relief in addition to
monetary damages but rather that the plaintiff het suffered a “loss” as narrowly defined in the
vacatedHoltz decision. Underwood 678 N.E.2d at 1283-84.

In the other case cited by PlaintifBpard of Trustees of Indianapolis Fire Department
Pension Fund v. City of Indianapalithe plaintiff board of trustees, relying on the Indiana Code,
sought to reverse the defendant city’s decisioretpuire the board of trustees to utilize a city
attorney rather than a privately contettttorney. 498 N.E.2d 1002, 1003 (Ind. Ct. App. 1986).
The city argued that the board of trustees hadfédeomply with the ITCAbut the court held that
the claims did not sound in tort and, thus, did not fall within the ITIdA(citing Ind. Code § 34-4-
16.5-1, which provided: “This chapter apglienly to a claim or suit in tort.®).The Indiana Court
of Appeals reasoned that “[tjhe complaint fileg the Trustees seeks several forms of injunctive
relief; costs and expenses; and, additional reliei@gseem just and equitable. . . . There was no
award of damages resulting from a tort, and we do not read the complaint as seeking that type of
compensation.ld. Notably, the court did not find the ITAAapplicable because injunctive relief
was sought but rather because the court per@ehaunderlying claim as something other than a
tort. Moreover, this decision was issued foeass prior to the Indiana Supreme Court’s decision

in Holtz.®

explain, until very recently the Lexis report of the Court of Appeals decisidaltndid not reveal the decision of this
Court granting transfer, thereby vacating the Courtpgde&ls opinion, and reaching the opposite result. The Court of
Appeals in other recent cases has recognized this anontbheld the ITCA applicable to all torts committed against
persons or property.” 849 N.E.2d 488, 495 n.4 (Ind. 2006) (citing cases).

® The current version of § 34-4-16.5-1, which is ideaitin wording, is found at Indiana Code § 34-13-3-1
(2011).

® The only court to cit€ity of Indianapolidor this holding,Smith v. Miller Builders, In¢.741 N.E.2d 731,

738 (Ind. Ct. App. 2000), does not discuss or anaBieof Indianapolisand declined to decide the issue raised by
plaintiffs in Smithof whether the ITCA applied to the injunctive relief sought on their tort claim because plaintiffs had
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In Shelly & Sandsthe Indiana Court of Appeals found that the equitable relief sought
through a claim of estoppel was barred by the fadfitee plaintiff to filea proper notice under the
ITCA. 756 N.E.2d at 1078. The court first found tthegt ITCA does not directly apply to a claim
of estoppel because it is not a tdd. Nevertheless, because thetdoe of equitable estoppel is
based on a claim of fraud, either actual or caigsitre, and because an underlying claim of fraud
or constructive fraud (a tort) would be barred ®/ItIRCA absent proper notice, the court concluded
that a claim for equitable relief, such as estoppelld also be barred by the failure to file proper
notice. Id.

Notably, in this case, Plaintiffs do not suggdstt their claim of ndggence per se is not a
tort. The claim of negligence per se sounds whuollyort as Plaintiffs allege that the City
committed a legal wrong by its violation of tdaty set forth in § 14-28-3-5, which resulted in
damage to homeowners’ personal and real prope&ge Holtz560 N.E.2d at 547 (quoting the
definition of “tort” in Black’s LawDictionary). Plaintiffs’ claim for negligence per se sounds in tort
and, thus, invokes the ITCA. The fact that Plaintiff seeks both injunctive relief in addition to
monetary damages, and only seeks injunctive relief on this motion, does not nullify the ITCA’s
applicability. Notably, in this case, the injunctive relief of modifying the Crossings to improve
drainage sought by Plaintiffs to remedy the breafcttatutory duty is estimated by one expert to
cost $2,700.000. Plaintiffs’ negligence per se claim falls within the ITCA.

2. Immunity

Seeking immunity, the City specificallywvokes section 3(8) under the ITCA, which

provides that “[a] governmental agency or arplEyee acting within the scope of the employee’s

employment is not liable if a logesults from . . . [tlhe adoption and enforcement of or failure to

failed to raise the legal issue before the trial court.
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adopt or enforce a law (includimgles and regulations), unless the act of enforcement constitutes
false arrest or false imprisonment.” Ind. C&84-13-3-3(8). Plaintiffs respond that the City’'s
action or inaction is not immunized by thisopision of the ITCA because the City was not
enforcing laws but rather failed to follow laws itself.

Section 3(8) “applies to the decision ofyagovernmental entity ahnits employees about
whether to adopt or enforce astatute, rule, or regulation.’St. Joseph Cnty. Police Dep't v.
Shumaker812 N.E.2d 1143, 1147 (Ind. Ct. App. 20043ans. deniedinternal quotation marks
omitted) (quotingQuakenbush v. Lackey22 N.E.2d 1284, 1287 n.3 (Ind. 1998ypliedly
overruled on other grounds by Benton v. City of Oakland, Ci¢ N.E.2d 224, 230 (Ind. 1990)
(rejecting private/public diinction established Quakenbush Local ordinances, including zoning
ordinances, are laws included within the scope of Section &&p. Quakenbusb22 N.E.2d at
1286 n.3 (citing cases).

However, “the scope of ‘enforcement’ is lted to those activities in which a governmental
entity or its employees compel or attempt to compel the obedieramgotiferto laws, rules or
regulations, or sanction or attempt to sanction a violation ther&avisv. Animal Control-City
of Evanville 948 N.E.2d 1161, 1164 (Ind. 2011) (quotMgllin v. Mun. City of South Ben839
N.E.2d 278, 283 (Ind. 1994)5humaker812 N.E.2d at 1148, 1150 (discussing extensively the
evolution of Indiana case law time scope of section 3(8pee also Chenoweth v. Estate of Wijson
827 N.E.2d 44, 48 (Ind. Ct. App. 2005) (recognizing feation 3(8) affords immunity when the
government actor is “compelling or attemptingtonpel the obedience of another to laws” based
on the holding irShumake);, Valparaiso v. Defler694 N.E.2d 1177, 1183 (Ind. Ct. App. 1998)
(holding that the City of Valparaiso was not imne under section 3(8) because the city was being

forced to comply with the law through a mandaten the Indiana Department of Environmental
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Management and was not seeking to compel the obedience of another to the law). Section 8(3)
“does not include compliance with or followinglafvs, rules, or regulations by a governmental unit
or its employees. Nor does it include failure to comply with such laws, rules, or regulations”
Shumaker812 N.E.2d at 1150. “[T]he critical deterration is not whether a governmental entity
failed to follow procedures; it is whether a governtagéentity or employee failed to enforce a law.”
Davis 948 N.E.2d at 1164.

More narrowly, section 3(8) “restricts immitynto the adoption and enforcement of laws
(and a failure to do so) which are within the assignment of the governmental entity and that the
legislature intended that a governmental entityrbaune only for failing to adopt or enforce a law
that falls within the scope of themtity’s purpose or operational powelShumaker812 N.E.2d at
1149, 1150 (citinging v. Ne. Sec., Inc790 N.E.2d 474 (Ind. 2003pee also Belcher v. Nortpn
497 F.3d 742, 752 (7th Cir. 2007) (recognizing thepscof section 3(8) as set forthKimg and
Mullin); Harvey v. Bd. of Comm’rs of Wabash Cn#ji.6 N.E.2d 1296, 1298 (Ind. Ct. App. 1981)
(holding municipality is not entitled to immunityder ITCA when it acted not as a sovereign “but
rather as a subject of the law issued by a higbeereign,” and could deeld liable for failing to
erect sign required by state lai).

In this case, Plaintiffs’ claim under the FloGdntrol Act is basedn Ind. Code § 14-28-3-5,
which provides that:

A county or municipality mayotissue a permit for a structure, an obstruction, a

deposit, or an excavation within a flood hazard area or part of a flood hazard area

that lies within a floodwayvithout the prior written approval of the commissam
provided in IC 14-28-1.

" On page 7 of its reply brief, the City cit8eymour National Bank v. Sta#22 N.E.2d 1223 (Ind. 1981),
which has been specifically overruled QuackenbushSee St. Joseph Cnty. Police Dept. v. Shum&ier N.E.2d
1143, 1147, 1150 (Ind. Ct. App. 200¢gns. denied
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Ind. Code § 14-28-3-5 (1998) (emphasis addedhe IDNR regulations implementing the
requirements of the Flood Control Act also provit “a county or municipality must not authorize

a structure, obstruction, deposit, or excavation within a floodway without the applicant first
receiving a license from the department under4€28-1.” 312 Ind. AdmirnCode 10-1-5. The City
reasons generally that Plaintiffs are simplyroliaig that the City failed to enforce the provisions

of the Flood Control Act and the Flood Contfardinance by allowing construction without
determining that the developers had, in fact, obtained appropriate permits, thus bringing the City
within the immunity of section 3(8). Howevéhge City offers no analysis in support of immunity
under the Indiana Flood Control Act.

It is undisputed on this motion for summary judgment that the Crossings are obstructions
located in the floodway of Smitbitch and that the City issugurmits to construct the crossings
even though no applications for a floodway d¢angion permit from IDNR were submitted and
IDNR never issued a floodway construction permit for any of the Crossings. The Indiana Flood
Control Act places an affirmative duty on the Qitt to issue a permit if prior written approval has
not been obtained from IDNR. The City itskfled to comply with the Indiana statute.

The City reasons that it has complied with Flood Control Act by promulgating the City’s
Flood Control Ordinance. However, the Floodn@ol Act does not require the City to pass an
ordinance but rather it requires the City to reffadbm issuing permits until approval has been given
by the IDNR. Nor is the City the governmentatign‘charged” with enforcing the Indiana Flood
Control Act—enforcement authority lies with tHeNR. Immunity for failing to adopt or enforce
alaw is limited to the unit of governmentached with regulating the area of laiéing, 790 N.E.2d

at 482. Not only is the Citpot charged with enforcing the Indiana Flood Control Act, it is the
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subject of an active IDNR enforcement action for violating the Act by issuing permits for the
construction of the Crossings in violation of the Act.

In Davis, animal control failed to declare a ddgngerous. The Indiana Supreme Court
found that animal control was entitled to immunity under section 3(8) because the provision
allowing it to declare an animal dangerous tituted an enforcement provision of the ordinance
that otherwise states that “[mjerson shall own, keep, or harbor a dangerous animal within the city;
except for dangerous animals in compliand whe orders of the Commission . . .1d. at 1164,
1165(quoting trial court’s decision (citing Evanbg, Ind., Animal Control Ordinance § 9.90.30(G)
(2006))). The Indiana Supreme Court found that various other provisions of the ordinance, such as
allowing for the commencement of a proceeding ¢oldre an animal dangerous, for an animal
control official to declare an animal dangerous without a proceeding, for precautionary measures
that may be imposed if an animal is declaret@aous, for the possibility of the imposition of a fine
for a failure to comply with precautionary meassjrand for the possibility of destruction of the
animal if the precautions are insufficient, atinstituted an “activit[yjn which a governmental
entity or its employees compel or attemptttonpel the obedience of another to laws, rules or
regulations.”ld. at 1165 (citingviullin, 639 N.E.2d at 283). The Indiana Supreme Court held that,
at worst, the failure of City Dendants to follow these procedures constitutes a failure to enforce
the law, and the defendants were entitled to immuihdky.In contrast with animal control, the City
of Crown Point was not simply failing to take dsble steps to ensure that developers obtained
permits from the IDNR. The City itself failed tomply with state law prohibiting it from issuing
permits for development absent the IDNR approvgéction 3(8) does not provide the City with

immunity from suit under the Indiana Flood Control Act.
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Similarly, the City is not immune from lidhy under the City of Crown Point Flood Control
Ordinance. Under the Ordinantiee City has the duty to “[e]nsaithat construction authorization
has been granted by the Indiana Natural Reso@aesnission for all development projects subject
to 8 153.05 of this ordinance, and maintain a réad such authorization (either copy of actual
permit or letter of recommendation).” Flood Q@hOrdinance § 153.02(c). Like the Flood Control
Act, the Ordinance prohibits the City from issuing a permit for construction in a floodway until a
floodway construction permit has been issued by IDNR:

b. Upon receipt of an applicationrfan Improvement Location Permit, the
Building Official shall determine if theite is located whin an identified
floodway or within the floodplain wherthe limits of the floodway have not
yet been determined.

1. If the site is in an identifiefloodway the Building Official shall
require the applicant to forward the application, along with all
pertinent plans and specifications, to the Department of Natural
Resources and apply for a permit for construction in a floodway.

Under the provisions of IC 13-2-22 a permit from the Natural
Resources Commission is required prior to the issuance of a local
building permit for any excavation, deposit, construction or
obstruction activity such as filling, grading, clearing and paving etc.
undertaken before the actual start of construction of the building.

No action shall be taken byatBuilding Officid until a permit has
been issued by the Natural Resources Commission granting approval
for construction in the floodwayOnce a permit has been issued by
the Natural Resources Commissior Building Officials may issue

the local Improvement Location Permit, provided the provisions
contained in § 153.05 and § 153.06 a$ thrdinance have been met.
The Improvement Location [P]ermit cannot be less restrictive than
the permit issued by the Natural Resources Commission.

§ 153.04(b)(1) (emphasis added).
Plaintiffs’ claim against the City is not baselthe allegation that the City failed to enforce

the Ordinance against developers, which it alsolditirather that the City violated the Ordinance
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itself. InDavis, the prohibition animal control was enforg was that “[n]o person shall own, keep,
or harbor a dangerous animal .” 948 N.E.2d at 1165. Bhumakerthe Indiana Court of Appeals
found that the police department was entitledrimunity for allowing a defendant to be released
without posting the proper bond because “it ithim the operational purpose or mission of the
Department to enforce bond orders and run the jail.” 812 N.E.2d at 1151. This case is
distinguishable from botbavisandShumakem that the prohibition is against tRéy’s building
official taking any action to issue a Locationdravement Permit until a permit has been issued by
the state Natural Resources Commission apprdh@gonstruction in a floodway. Although the
City failed to require the developers to obtainghmper permits, the City also failed itself to comply
with section 153.04(b)(1) by issuing an Improvemeocal Permit without first ensuring the
developers had obtained the proper state permits. Section 3(8) does not provide the City with
immunity from suit under the Crown Point Flood Control Ordinance.
B. Statute of Limitations

The City argues that Plaintiffs’ claims aretea by the statute of limitations. The parties
agree that the six-year statute of limitatidoand at Indiana Code 8§ 34-11-2-7(e) applies but
disagree as to when the six-year time period bégamn. Indiana follows the discovery rule for
determining when a cause of action accrugse Perryman v. Motorist Mut. Ins. C846 N.E.2d
683, 687-88 (Ind. Ct. App. 2006) (citihtpbig v. Bruning613 N.E.2d 61, 64 (Ind. Ct. App. 1993),
trans. denieyl® Under the discovery rule, a causeofion accrues—and the statute of limitations

begins to run—not when the tortious conduct ogdurswhen the plaintiff knows or in the exercise

8 The City suggests that a cause of action accrues whwvrongful act or orssion first produces damages,
citing Bailey v. Martz488 N.E.2d 716 (Ind. Ct. App. 1986), adiddebrand v. Hildebrand736 F. Supp. 1512 (S.D.
Ind. 1990). Def. Br., p. 18. Howewehe Indiana Court of Appeals liabig v. Bruningeecognized that the language
cited by the City fronBailey“is not a correct statement of the law govegiort cases today; instead, the discovery rule
is applied to determine when a cause of action accrues.” 613 N.E.2d 61, 63 (Ind. Ct. App. 1993).
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of ordinary diligence could discover “that an injingd been sustained as a result of the tortious act
of another.”1d. Plaintiffs argue, and theit§ does not disagree, that Plaintiffs first discovered the
injuries resulting from the City’s violations tife Indiana Flood Control Act and the Crown Point
Flood Control Ordinance with the flooding event of September 2008 that caused flooding in the
Stillwater Subdivision and Pine Hillesulted in damage to homeaavs’ real property. This case
was filed on June 4, 2009, and, thus, is not barred.

The City has not identified any other evidemz#cating knowledge of the City’s violations
by Plaintiffs prior to the September 2008 flooding.eTourt notes that Plaintiffs have identified
evidence from homeowner Kolodziej, that floodwaterse in his yard, but not into his house, on
several dates prior to the September 2008 floods: 1/15/2005; 6/5/2005; 4/17/2006; 7/15/2006;
9/13/2006; 12/16/2006; 4/25/2007; 8/31/2007; 1/8/2008; 3/15/2008; 8/25/2008; 12/27/2008;
2/15/2009; 2/27/2009; 3/8/2009; and2R2009. Even if these flooding occurrences fall within the
meaning of discovery rule such that this cause of action accrued on the first of those dates, January
15, 2005, the filing of this case would still be weithin the six-year statute of limitations.

C. Negligence Per Se

Plaintiffs have alleged a claim of negligenper se against the City and seek summary
judgment in their favor on this claim to the extdrgy seek injunctive relief as a remedy. Pursuant
to Indiana law, a person is liable under a theornegfligence per se if that person 1) violates a duty
imposed by statute or ordinance; 2) where theistair ordinance intended to protect the class of
persons in which the plaintiff is included and totect against the risk diie type of harm which
has occurred; and 3) the violation proxteta causes the plaintiff's injuriesErwin v. Rog 928
N.E.2d 609, 616 (Ind. Ct. App. 201@ke also Kho v. Penningto®75 N.E.2d 208, 212-13 (Ind.

2007). Negligencper sedoes not mean liabilitger se 1d. A plaintiff must still prove causation
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and damages just as in any other negligence clam.United Life Ins. Co. v. Dougls808 N.E.2d
690, 704 (Ind. Ct. App. 2004) (citirgjty of Gary v. Smith & Wesson, Cqrp01 N.E.2d 1222, 1245
(Ind. 2003)). Because Plaintiffs bear the burdeprobf at trial, Plaintiff must establish all the
elements of the claim.

Generally, the trier of fact determines whether the statute is applicable, whether a violation
of the statute occurred, and, if so, whether the violation proximately caused the alleged injury.
Douglas 808 N.E.2d 690, 704 (citifigawson by Dawson v. Long46 N.E.2d 1265, 1268 (Ind. Ct.
App.1989)trans. deniell In response to the motion, tBéy does not oppose and makes no legal
or evidentiary argument against Plaintiffs’ showithat the statutory duty was imposed on the City,
that the City violated the statury duty, and that Plaintiffs wethe class of people intended to be
protected by the statute against the type of taanhoccurred. The City’s only opposition to the
claim of negligence per se is the element of causation. The Caronsiders each elementin turn.

1. Statutory Duty and Violation

Plaintiffs assert that the City violatéadiana Code § 14-28-3-5, Indiana Administrative
Code § 10-1-3, and the City©fown Point Flood Control Ordinance by permitting the construction
of the Stillwater Subdivision and Pine Hill, desyhe fact that neither the developers nor the City
had sought or obtained a floodway construction permit for the Crossings.

The Indiana Flood Control Act (“Flood Contrstt”) regulates development activities within
floodways with a drainage area of greater than or equal to one square mile at the downstream end
of the project. Ind. Code 8§ 14-28-1-12; 312 lAdmin. Code 10-1-2. The Floodway Control Act
and the regulations define a floodway, for pugsosf Ind. Code § 14-28-1, Ind. Code § 14-28-3,
and Ind. Code § 14-34, to mean “(1) the channalmfer or stream; and (2) the parts of the flood

plain adjoining the channel that are reasonalgjyired to efficiently carry and discharge the flood

25



water or flood flow of a river or streamlhd. Code § 14-8-2-102; 318d. Admin. Code 1-1-16.
The Flood Control Act requires IDNR approval priotte erection of structures or deposits in such
floodways. Ind. Code 88 14-28-1-20, 14-P&2 (1998); 312 Ind. Admin. Code 10-1-2.

Under the Flood Control Act, a county or municipality is specifically prohibited from
permitting the construction of structures ina@filway without a floodway construction permit from
IDNR:

A county or municipality may not issue a permit for a structure, an obstruction, a

deposit, or an excavation within a flood hazard area or part of a flood hazard area

that lies within a floodway without th@rior written approval of the commission as

provided in IC 14-28-1.

Ind. Code § 14-28-3-5 (1998). @ihDNR regulations implememty the requirements of the Flood

Control Act also provide that ‘@unty or municipality must not thorize a structure, obstruction,

deposit, or excavation within a floodway withdbe applicant first receiving a license from the
department under IC 14-28-1.” 312 Ind. Admin. Code 10-1-5.

The City of Crown Point has @orporated these construction restrictions into the City’s
Flood Control Ordinance. The Flood Control Orgiceimposes upon the Citye duty to “[e]nsure
that construction authorization has been granted by the Indiana Natural Resources Commission for
all development projects subject to § 153.05 if thridinance, and maintain a record of such
authorization (either copy of actual permit dtde of recommendation).” Flood Control Ordinance

§ 153.02(c). “Development” is defined to include the construction of roads, the construction of

bridges or culverts, and filling, gding, and excavating operationd. at 8 153.01(b). Projects are
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subject to 8§ 153.05 of the Flood CanitOrdinance if they “will causany increase in the elevation
of the [100 year frequency] flood.ld. § 153.05(a).

In addition, 8 153.04 of the Flood ControldDrance provides that, upon receipt of an
application for a building permit for a developrhatated within an ientified floodway, the City
official

shall require the applicant to forward theplication, along with all pertinent plan

and specifications, to the Department of Natural Resources and apply for a permit
for construction in a floodway.

Under the provisions of IC 13-2-22 [nd@ 14-28-1] a permit from the Natural
Resources Commission is required prior to the issuance of a local building permit for
any excavation, deposit, construction ortalcstion activity such as filling, grading,
clearing, and paving etc. undertaken bethe= actual start of construction of the
building.
No action shall be taken by the BuildindfiGal until a permit has been issued by
the Natural Resources Commission granting approval for construction in the
floodway. . . ..
Id. at 8 153.04(b)(1).
It is undisputed by these parties that @m@ssings are all in designated floodways and
subject to IDNR’s jurisdiction pursuant to the Flg@dntrol Act. Jones, Plaintiffs’ expert, opines
that the three Crossings were constructed idemtified floodway and that a floodway construction

permit from the IDNR was required for all threkthe Crossings. The City does not offer any

contrary evidence. Neither the developerthefStillwater Subdivisionrad Pine Hill nor the City

°® The language of section 153.05(a) provides thafepts are subject to § 153.05 of the Flood Control
Ordinance if they “will cause any increase in the elevation of the regulatory flood.” “Regulatory flood” is defined as
“the flood having a one percent probability of being equateskceeded in any given year, as calculated by a method
procedure which is acceptable to and approved by thanadilatural Resources Commission. The regulatory flood
elevation at any location is as defined in § 153.03 ofatldsance. The ‘Regulatory Flood' is also known by the term
‘Base Flood.” Flood Control Ordinance § 153.03. Secti58.03 defines a regulatory flood in the Main Beaver Dam
Ditch and all tributaries, which would include Smith Ditel,is “delineated on the 100 year flood profiles in the Flood
Insurance Study of the City of Crown Point prepared by the Federal Emergency Management Agency and dated
September, 1979.1d. at § 153.03(a).
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sought or obtained a floodway construction pefroitn IDNR for any of the Crossings in Smith
Ditch prior to commencement of construction.idSdifferently, the IDNRdid not issue floodway
construction permits for any of the Crossings prior to their construction. Thus, the City issued
permits for the construction of the Stillwatestfslivision and Pine Hill, including the Crossings,
without floodway construction permits from tHeNR in violation of its duties under the Flood
Control Act and Flood Control Ordinance. ThigyG breach of duty was an unexcused violation
of Indiana Code § 14-28-3-5, 312 Ind. Admin. Code 10-1-3, and Crown Point’'s Flood Control
Ordinance.
2. Intended Purpose of the Statute

The unexcused violation of the Flood QmhtAct and the Flood Control Ordinance
“constitutes negligence per se if the statute omamite is intended to protect the class of persons
in which the plaintiff is included and to proteagainst the risk of the type of harm which has
occurred as a result of its violatiorkho, 875 N.E.2d 212-13 (citation and internal quotation marks
omitted). The Flood Control Act and Flood Cont@tinance are intended to protect the citizens
of Indiana and of the City d€rown Point (like Plaintiffs) from the hazards of development in
floodways. Ind. Code 88 14-28-1-1, 14-281&2Crown Point Ordinance 1638, section 1.

The Flood Control Act sets out its purposgleitly in the section entitled “Legislative
intent”:

(1) The loss of lives and property cadd® floods and the damage resulting from

floods is a matter of deep concern to Indiana affecting the life, health, and

convenience of the people and the prisdecof property. To prevent and limit

floods, all flood control works and structua®d the alteration of natural or present

watercourses of all rivers and streamsigiana should be regulated, supervised, and

coordinated in design, construction, aperation according to sound and accepted

engineering practices so as to best mdrdnd minimize the extent of floods and
reduce the height and violence of floods.
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(2) The channels and that part of the flgdains of rivers and streams that are the
floodways should not be inhabited and shdaddkept free and clear of interference
or obstructions that will cause any undugnietion of the capacity of the floodways.

Ind. Code § 14-28-1-1.
In addition, the Flood Control Act sets forth faetors that IDNR considers in determining
whether to allow a permit applicant to construct in a floodway.
(e) An applicant must receive a permit from the director for the work before
beginning construction. The director shafiie a permit only if in the opinion of the
director the applicant has clearly proven that the structure, obstruction, deposit, or

excavation will not do any of the following:

(1) Adversely affect the efficiency of or unduly restrict the capacity of the
floodway.

(2) Constitute an unreasonable hazard to the safety of life or property.

(3) Result in unreasonably detrimental effects upon fish, wildlife, or
botanical resources.

Ind. Code § 14-28-1-22.
Similarly, the Flood Control Ordinance explicifigts forth its purposes and the type of harm
it is designed to prevent:
The purpose of this ordinance is to guide development in the flood hazard areas in
order to reduce the potential for loss of End property, and to reduce the potential
for health and safety hazards . . . Jh@ City of Crown Point adopts the following
floodplain management regulations in order to . . . prevent unwise developments
from increasing flood or drainage hazardstioers . . . [and] to protect human life
and health from flood hazards . . . .
Ordinance 1638, Section 1.
The Flood Control Ordinance accomplishes this purpose by, among other things, requiring
that the City ensure that construction activitesducted in a floodway are performed only with the

approval of IDNR.Id. at 88 153.02, 153.04. The Plaintiffs, asdests of the City of Crown Point

and property owners immediately adjacent tdithedway, are within thelass of people the Flood

29



Control Act and Flood Control Ordinance were ead¢b protect from flooding hazards as occurred
in September 2008. They deserve the safety protections mandated by these minimum requirements
for floodway construction in order to preean unduly restricted floodway from creating
unreasonable hazards to the safety of their lives, property, and botanical resources.
3. Proximate Cause

Liability is established when ¢hviolation of a statute or ordinance is the proximate cause
of the injury sustainedTown of Montezuma v. Dowr85 N.E.2d 108, 112, 114 (Ind. Ct. App.
1997). “A negligent act or omission is the proximateseanf an injury if the injury is a natural and
probable consequence which, ight of the circumstances, shouhsonably have been foreseen
or anticipated.”ld. at 114 (citingCity of Portage v. Lindbloon655 N.E.2d 84, 86 (Ind. Ct. App.
1995),trans. deniefl “In order to find thatan injury was the proximate result of a statutory
violation, the injury must have been a foreseeabiesequence of the violation and would not have
occurred if the requirements ofetlstatute had been observedihdsey v. DeGroot398 N.E.2d
1251, 1260 (Ind. Ct. App. 2009) (quotitrdand Steel v. Pequignp608 N.E.2d 1378, 1383 (Ind.
Ct. App. 1993)).

In their motion, Plaintiffs argue that the Cityisgligence per se resulted in the construction
of the three crossings in Smitht€h with culverts that are too small to convey the flow during a
reasonably anticipated storm and expose Plainéifid the general public, to an unreasonable risk
of flooding, including the flooding that occurredSeptember 2008. Plaintiffs reason that it is not
necessary to show thaetity’s negligence was tls®leproximate cause of the Plaintiffs’ injuries
but onlya proximate cause of the injuriegdian Trucking v. Harber752 N.E.2d 168, 173 (Ind.
Ct. App. 2001). “[L]iability arises if the actoocurring with one or more other causes, is a

proximate cause of the injuryNat’l R.R. Passenger Crop. v. Everton by Everésb N.E.2d 360,
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366 (Ind. Ct. App. 1995) (citindglder v. Fishey 217 N.E.2d 847, 852 (Ind. 1966)). “At a
minimum, proximate cause requires that the injury would not have occurred but for the defendant’s
conduct.” Pope v. Hancock Cnty. Rural Elec. Membership C&®7 N.E.2d 1242, 1247-48 (Ind.
Ct. App. 2010) (quotingparagon Family Rest. v. Bartolinf99 N.E.2d 1048, 1054 (Ind. 2003)).

Under the Flood Control Act, IDNR may nissue a floodway construction permit for a
project if the structure, deposit, or obstruction will

(1) Adversely affect the efficiency of anduly restrict the capacity of the floodway.

(2) Constitute an unreasonable hazard to the safety of life or property.

(3) Result in unreasonably detrimental effects upon fish, wildlife, or botanical

resources.
Ind. Code § 14-28-2-22(e). Jones opined thattlessings, constructed without authorization from
IDNR, violate the first two of these prohibited conditions.

The Crossings, as constructed, will result in an increase of the 100 year frequency flood
elevation just upstream of ti@rossings of 2.58 - 4.10 feet. UmdBNR regulations, a structure,
deposit, or obstruction restricts the capacity oflibh@dway if it causes an increase in the elevation
of the 100 year frequency flood more than (0fdet. 312 Ind. Admin. Code 10-2-3. Thus, the
Crossings, as built without authorization fréBNR, will increase the 100 year frequency flood
elevation between 18 and 29 times the maximum allowable'felrebther words, IDNR-approved
crossings would have increased the 100 year f#de¢htions by less than 0.15 feet instead of the

2.58 - 4.10 feet with the Crossings in place. Bo#ir#iffs’ and the City’s experts have opined that

19 In their brief, Plaintiffs concide that “[tjhe Crossings, as built without authorization from IDNR, will thus
increase the 100 year frequency flood elevation at leatin®$ the maximum allowable amount.” PI. Br., p. 5.
Plaintiffs draw this conclusion by comparing a 100 yeaodlelevation with the Crossings of 3.42-4.10 feet and the
allowable amount of .14 feet under the statute. Howdwees’ report shows a range of increased flood elevation with
the crossings of 2.58 - 4.10, not 3.42-4.10.
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larger crossings are necessary in order foCtossings to be approvable by IDNR pursuant to 8
14-28-1-22(e).

On September 28, 2007, the IDNR denied thdiegamon for an after-the-fact construction
permit for the existing Crooked Creek Trail crogsbecause the crossing with the two 36-inch
culverts “adversely affects the efficiency of umduly restricts the capacity of, the floodway” and
“creates an increase in the 100-year frequemmgdfelevation that poses an unreasonable threat to
the safety of life or property.PI. Br., Exh. 9, p. 3. Plaintiffs’ert has opined that the Crossings
create an unreasonable hazard to the safepragferty by causing increased water depths for
properties in the Subdivision and Pine Hill.

Plaintiffs argue that the City’s negligence pe was the proximate cause of flooding injuries
to Plaintiffs’ properties as a result of the unduéstricted floodway, specifically identifying
flooding experienced by three Plaintiffs. Fitste McKennas’ home experienced severe flooding
in September 2008 when water entered the htbnoeigh the sump pump and then started to pour
in through the windows, leaving three to four fefevater in the lower level. Although flood water
also backed up onto the McKennas property multiple times during heavy rains in 2009 and 2010,
the water did not enter the McKenna home on these occasions because the McKennas paid to have
a soil berm constructed behind their houser dffte severe flooding in September 2008. Second,
Plaintiff Mahoney’s home experienced sevimeding in September 2008, and in 2009, floodwater
backed up at the Crossings and resulted itementering Mahoney’s property, but not his home,
multiple times during heavy rains. Third, PkifinKolodziej’'s home experienced severe flooding
in September 2008 and flood water from the Cragsentered his property, but not his home, at

least on the following dates: 1/15/2005%5/@005; 4/17/2006; 7/15/2006; 9/13/2006; 12/16/2006;
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4/25/2007; 8/31/2007; 1/8/2008; 3/15/2008/25/2008; 12/27/2008; 2/15/2009; 2/27/2009;
3/8/2009; and 10/23/20089.

Plaintiffs offer an analysis of the pre- and post-Crossings 100 year frequency flood elevations
in relation to the residence of Plaintiff Koladgonly. The pre-developkl00 year frequency flood
elevation at the location of Kolodziej's resmbe is 698.86 feet. Kolodziej's residence has a
basement door entrance elevation of 700.32 feeted on the survey conducted for Jones. In
contrast, the 100 year frequency flood elevationHe existing condition at the same location, with
the Crossings as they currently are, is 702e#, fwhich is more than two feet above the door
entrance elevation and almost four feet abog@th-developed 100 year frequency flood elevation.
This is also almost four feet above the Fl@mhtrol Act’s allowable 0.14 feet increase of the 100
year frequency flood elevation as a result of acttineé, deposit, or obstruction that restricts the
capacity of the floodway.

Plaintiffs reason that, if a floodway construction permit had been sought prior to the
construction of the Crossings, the Flood Contrd would have required IDNR to require larger
crossings before approving the floodway construgtermit in order to prevent or limit the risk of
flooding. Plaintiffs further reason that, if théyCwould have complied with its duties under the
Flood Control Act and the Flood Control Ordinartbe, Crossings would not have been constructed
in such a way that adversely affects the efficy of and unduly restricts the capacity of the
floodway. Thus, Plaintiffs argue the flooding injurteghe Plaintiffs would not have occurred and
the continuing hazard to the safety of the Plaintiffs’ life and property would not exist but for the
City’s breach of its statutory duty becausertteximum allowable flood would have been 0.14 feet
or less above the pre-developed 100 year frequency flood elevation at the location of Kolodziej's

residence of 698.86 feet, for a taddb99 feet, which is below thHmsement door entrance elevation
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of 700.32 feet. Plaintiffs contemigiat the City should have foreseen that permitting the construction
of a development in a floodwayithout a permit—or even angput—from IDNR prior to beginning
construction in a floodway wouldselt in flooding. As a result, Platiffs conclude that the failure
to do so has proximately caused significant actual and potential flooding injuries to Plaintiffs.
The City contends that the City’s actions weo¢the proximate cause of Plaintiffs’ injuries
because Kolodziej's residence was built at anatler below that designed by the site engineer as
shown in the Plat of Survey. The City’s exkp@hillip E. Gralik, P.E of RW Armstrong, opines
in his July 9, 2010 opinion, that several properties along Smith Ditch “were constructed with
finished floor elevations below those requiredimsubdivision grading plans and plat,” including
the Jenks and Kolodziej residences. Def. Bxh.ER, p. 3. The Plat &urvey for Kolodziej's
residence, dated December 23, 2003, shows “706.88 &bnt of the property and “699.0" at the
back of the property. PIl. Reply, Exh. 16 Ti&rading Notes” provide “1) 706.10 = Reference
Elev. (Top of curb @ center of lot); 2) 708.15 oPrFinish Grade Elev. @ont line of house)”.
Id. In his expert report, Gralik stated that th&atted finished floor elevation” for the Kolodziej
residence is 708.15 arldat the “actual finished floor elevation” is 699.80. The City notes that
Plaintiffs’ brief points out thathe existing 100 year frequency flood elevation with the culverts is
702.80 feet! Thus, the City reasons that, if Kolagizls home had been built at the elevation
indicated in the finished plat at 708.15 feet,lasement would be almost six feet above the 100
year frequency flood elevation, even with the Crogsj rather than four feet beneath at 697.91. The

City reasons that the same is true with the Jenks home in the Subdivision, which was platted to be

1 The City does not dispute that 702.80 is the agsti00 year frequency flood elevation for purposes of this
motion only.
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built with a finished floor elevation of 706.00 feathich would be four feet above the 100 year
flood frequency elevation, but was built an tadtfinished floor elevation” of 697.91.

Although Gralik’s opinion raises an issue of fastto whether the houses were in fact built
below grade, with the facts viewed in the light mlastrable to the City, i not a material fact,
as the City does not dispute that Kolodziejisl @ther homeowners’ residences, as built, flooded
in September 2008 because the City allowed tlsgdngs to be built without the proper permits.
Plaintiffs have demonstrated that, if the §3imgs had complied with the Flood Control Act, Smith
Ditch would not have overtopped Greenview Pl&télwater Parkway, and Crooked Creek Trail,
the Association’s common areas would not Haeen damaged, the Mahoney and McKenna homes
would not have been flooded, Kolodziej's hommuhd not have flooded, and Kolodziej’'s swing set,
yard fixtures, and landscaping wouldt have been ruined by four fed¢flood water. The City also
does not dispute that a proximate cause need not be the only proximate cause. Accordingly,
Plaintiffs have met their burden on summary judgtof establishing each element of their claim
of negligence per se against thigyCand the City has not raisedjanuine issue of material fact to
preclude summary judgment.

D. Injunctive Relief

Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief, requiring theétyto replace or repair the Crossings in order
to prevent the flooding hazard afature flooding injuries to Plaintiffs and their properties.
Plaintiffs argue that, because gy owns the streets at the Crossings, Plaintiffs cannot unilaterally
construct new crossings or install new culverts, oiméyCity can. Thus, Plaintiffs assert that the
only remedy for the City’s negligence per se i®ater directing the City to modify the Crossings,

rather than an award of monetary damages to Plaintiffs.
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The Court considers four criteria in decidinge#irer to grant injunctive relief: “(1) whether
the plaintiff has [in fact succeeded] on the me(@3;whether the plaintiff will have an adequate
remedy at law or will be irreparably harmed if the injunction does not issue; (3) whether the
threatened injury to the plaintiff outweighs tteeatened harm the injunction may inflict on the
defendant; and (4) whether the granting ofitipenction will harm the public interest.Plummer
v. Am. Inst. of Certifie®@ub. Accountant®97 F.3d 220, 229 (7th Cir. 1996ge also eBay Inc. v.
MercExchange, LL{547 U.S. 388, 391 (2008).

First, Plaintiffs have, in fact, succeeded on thatsef their negligence per se claim against
the City, as set forth in this Opinion and Ord8econd, the Court finds that Plaintiffs do not have
an adequate remedy at law because Plaintiffsol@wn the streets or the Crossings, nor do they
own Smith Ditch on the north side of GreenviBVace. Therefore, even an award of monetary
damages in an amount sufficient to reconstrudCtiossings would be inadequate because Plaintiffs
cannot unilaterally repair the Crossings. Moreovee, City has an ownership interest in the
Crossings and is currently engaged in an administrative proceeding with the IDNR to repair the
Crossings to the satisfaction of the IDNR.

Third, the Court must balance the hardshipthefparties. The threatened harm the City
suggests it will suffer is the cost@pairing the Crossings. In suppdhe City cites the Affidavit

of Aaron Hurt, in which he estimates that the cost to modify the crossings is $2,700,000.00. The

2 IneBay Inc. v. MercExchange, LLtbe United States Supreme Coextagnized the traditional factors for
injunctive relief:

A plaintiff must demonstrate: (1) that it has suffered an irreparable injury; (2) that remedies available

at law, such as monetary damages, are inadetguedenpensate for that injury; (3) that, considering

the balance of hardships between the plaintiff@gefdndant, a remedy in equity is warranted; and (4)

that the public interest would not be disserved by a permanent injunction.
547 U.S. 388, 391 (2006) (citingeinberger v. Romero-Barcel56 U.S. 305, 311-313 (19838moco Prod. Co. v.
Gambel] 480 U.S. 531, 542(1987)).
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City argues that it would be ineitable to require the City to sdyebear the burden of the crossing
reconstruction when the Developers were originally responsible for the design of the crossings and
obtaining permits. For several reasons, the Caagnizant of the mandatory nature of this
injunctive relief, finds that the balance weighdarmor of Plaintiffs. First, the continued risk of
flooding and the danger of harm to persons aonggty remains as long as the crossings are not
modified in such a way that is approvable uriddiana Code § 14-28-1-22. Second, the City may
be correct that the developers may also be liabledr of the cost of reconstructing the Crossings,
but given that only the City haselauthority at this stage to modify the Crossings, any action the
City may have to take against the developerafoontribution claim does not alter the balance in
favor of Plaintiffs. Finally, the&€ity, as it admits, has already “agreed” to modify the crossings to
comply with IDNR standards. As previously edithe IDNR has instituted proceedings against the
City regarding the Crossings. The City’s resmobsief represents, “The City agreed when it
learned that the crossings were built withowdpar permits to work with IDNR to do the work
necessary to obtain permits for the crossings aswptd IDNR’s requirements.” Def. Resp., p. 20.
Thus, the City reasons that an Order of tloei€is unnecessary. However, the City’s ongoing
cooperation with the IDNR does not preclude the Court fronriagtan Order requiring the City
to go through with the repair or reconstructiothaf Crossings in the interest of Plaintiffs’ ongoing
risk of exposure to flooding as a result of the inadequate Crossings.

Finally, for the same reason, the Court finds that the injunction will not harm the public
interest, and, in fact, is consistent with #hetion being presently taken in the administrative

enforcement action led by the INDR.
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CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the Court her&li¥ANT S Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment Against Defendant City ofd@m Point, Indiana [DE 97] and here®RDERS that the
City of Crown Point timely repawr replace the crossings at@nview Place, Stillwater Parkway,
and Crooked Creek Trail in such a way thatthre approvable under Indiana Code § 14-28-1-22
and the Crown Point Flood Control Ordinance arabt@in all necessary approval from the Indiana
Department of Natural Resources for the Crossings.

All of Plaintiffs other claims against the CREMAIN PENDING.

SO ORDERED this 11th day of October, 2011.

s/ Paul R. Cherry
MAGISTRATE JUDGE PAUL R. CHERRY
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

CC: All counsel of record
Pro se Defendant Robert Stiglich
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